# FILED

12/17/2024

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0398

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 23-0398

## STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

JASON DANIEL SHEWALTER,

Defendant and Appellant.

## **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

On Appeal from the Montana Twentieth Judicial District Court, Lake County, the Honorable Deborah Christopher, Presiding

#### **APPEARANCES:**

TAMMY A. HINDERMAN Division Administrator DEBORAH S. SMITH Assistant Appellate Defender Office of State Public Defender Appellate Defender Division P.O. Box 200147 Helena, MT 59620-0147 debbie.smith@mt.gov (406) 444-9505

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. The District Court mistakenly gave Mr. Shewalter no credit for time served in the judgment on revocation, even though the District Court indicated at sentencing it had given him credit for time served. Is Mr. Shewalter's sentence illegal?

2. Did the District Court abuse its discretion when it denied Mr. Shewalter credit for elapsed time for a five-month period of time without any articulable violations?

3. Did Mr. Shewalter receive ineffective assistance of counsel at the dispositional hearing when his attorney failed to request any elapsed time against his revocation sentence?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of a second revocation judgment that was issued by the Lake County District Court in 2022. The underlying offense is a 2006 conviction for a single count of criminal possession with intent to distribute marijuana, for which Mr. Shewalter received a ten-year commitment to the Department of Corrections with eight years suspended. This sentence was ordered to run consecutively to two sentences from Flathead County. Mr. Shewalter did not appeal his conviction or original sentence.

In 2017, Mr. Shewalter discharged his Flathead sentences and began serving the Lake County sentence at issue in this appeal. In 2018, the District Court revoked the suspended portion of Mr. Shewalter's sentence for the first time. Mr. Shewalter did not appeal the first revocation.

In 2022, the District Court revoked Mr. Shewalter's suspended sentence for a second time. Mr. Shewalter did not timely appeal the second revocation. In 2023, however, Mr. Shewalter filed a *pro se* petition for out-of-time appeal of his second revocation, explaining he told his attorney he wanted to appeal his sentence, but the attorney failed to file an appeal. He requests credit for time served and street time. (Petition for Out-of-Time Appeal (07/20/2023).) This Court granted Mr. Shewalter's petition and appointed the Appellate Defender Division to represent him. (Order (08/01/2023).)

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In 2006, Mr. Shewalter pled guilty to and was convicted of one count of criminal possession with intent to distribute, a felony, in

 $\mathbf{2}$ 

violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 45-9-103(1). (Doc. 29 at 1, attached hereto as Exh. A.) He received a ten-year commitment to the Department of Corrections ("DOC"), with eight years suspended, which ran "consecutive to the sentences imposed in Flathead County." (App. A at 2.)

Mr. Shewalter "discharged his Flathead County sentences and began serving the suspended portion of his sentence in this matter" on March 14, 2017. (Doc. 33 at 1.) The District Court revoked the suspended portion of Mr. Shewalter's sentence on December 6, 2018. (Doc. 42 at 5, attached hereto as App. B.) His new sentence following revocation was an eight-year DOC commitment with 5 years suspended. (App. B at 1.) The District Court granted him 49 days of credit for time served against his new sentence and no credit for elapsed time. (App. B at 1.)

On October 17, 2021, Mr. Shewalter began serving the suspended portion of his first revocation sentence. (Doc. 49 at 1.) At that time, Mr. Shewalter lacked a permanent residence and did not receive enough in social security disability payments to live on his own without having employment, which he had a difficult time obtaining. Transportation

issues prevented Mr. Shewalter from keeping up with appointments with his probation officer. Mr. Shewalter admitted to using marijuana, fentanyl, and possibly methamphetamine. He was referred to chemical dependency treatment on April 28, 2022, and on May 18, 2022; given jail sanctions from April 17 through May 18, 2022, and from May 23 through May 26, 2022; and provided an intervention hearing on April 19, 2022. (Doc. 49 at 2 - 3.)

On June 8, 2022, the State prepared a Report of Violation ("ROV"), alleging three violations of Condition 8 of his probationary conditions, i.e., compliance with all laws and ordinances. (Doc. 49 at 1 (filed 06/09/2022).) The State asserted Mr. Shewalter committed three separate offenses on June 3, 2022: (1) criminal trespass to property, a misdemeanor; (2) possession of dangerous drugs, a felony; and (3) possession of drug paraphernalia, a misdemeanor. (Doc. 49 at 1.) Without elaboration, the ROV indicates "[m]ultiple" verbal reprimands were given to Mr. Shewalter. (Doc. 49 at 1.)

Mr. Shewalter's probation officer recommended a five-year DOC commitment with no time suspended and no credit for street time. (Doc. 49 at 3.) The State filed a petition to revoke on June 10, 2022.

The District Court issued an arrest warrant on June 16, 2022, setting bail at \$25,000.

On June 28, 2022, before the arrest warrant was served on Mr. Shewalter, the State prepared an addendum to its ROV alleging Mr. Shewalter committed three new violations of Condition 8 of his probationary conditions. (Doc. 52 at 1.) The State asserted Mr. Shewalter committed three separate offenses on June 23, 2022, including another alleged drug possession offense. (Doc. 52 at 1.) Again the ROV indicates "[m]ultiple" verbal reprimands were given to Mr. Shewalter without any elaboration. (Doc. 52 at 1.) The probation officer remarked in the ROV that Mr. Shewalter's "current illegal substance use seems to be steady, constant use[,]" and that he "will continue to couch surf and stay with people whom are engaged in using illegal substances." (Doc. 52 at 2.) Again the State recommended a five-year DOC commitment with no time suspended and no credit for street time. (Doc. 52 at 2.) The State filed an amended petition to revoke on July 7, 2022.

The arrest warrant was served on Mr. Shewalter on July 10, 2022. (Doc. 56.) Mr. Shewalter was transferred to the Lake County Detention

 $\mathbf{5}$ 

Center on July 13, 2022, and posted a bail bond of \$25,000 on August 18, 2022. (Docs. 54, 61.) Mr. Shewalter failed to appear at his adjudication hearing on August 25, 2022. (08/25/2022 Tr. at 2—3.)

Without objection, the District Court heard testimony from Columbia Falls police officer Wayne Stufflebeem concerning Mr. Shewalter's whereabouts. (08/25/2022 Tr. at 3 – 4.) Officer Stufflebeem testified he had arrested Mr. Shewalter about 4 a.m. that morning at the home of his girlfriend who had overdosed.<sup>1</sup> (08/25/2022 Tr. at 4 – 5.) Stufflebeem stated Mr. Shewalter told him he had court in the morning and was enrolling in a treatment plan. (08/25/2022 Tr. at 6.) The District Court issued another arrest warrant, this time setting bail at \$150,000. (Doc. 65; 08/25/2022 Tr. at 7 – 8.)

The new arrest warrant was served on Mr. Shewalter at the Flathead County Detention Center on September 1, 2022. (Doc. 66, Return of Service by Flathead County Sheriff's Office.) Mr. Shewalter

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Subsequently, at the dispositional hearing Mr. Shewalter explained he was the person who called the authorities about his girlfriend being unresponsive. He admitted to having been trespassed from her home because of his drug conviction, but he went there that day anyway because she "begged" him to come over and he found her "dead on the couch" and "called 911." (10/13/2022 Tr. at 23.)

was back at the Lake County Detention Center on September 6, 2022. (Doc. 66, Warrant Return of Service from Lake County.)

A combined adjudication and disposition hearing occurred on October 13, 2022. Officer Stufflebeem testified about his arrest of Mr. Shewalter on August 25, and about the offenses the State asserted Mr. Shewalter committed on June 3 and June 23, as alleged in the two ROVs. (10/13/2022 Tr. at 5 – 12.) Stufflebeam said he was unsure whether Mr. Shewalter had been charged with any crimes in Flathead County on account of the alleged offenses. (10/13/2022 Tr. at 11.)

The probation and parole officer, Ron Linn, who prepared the two ROVs also testified. (10/13/2022 Tr. at 13 – 15.) Mr. Linn stated he had supervised Mr. Shewalter since October 17, 2021,<sup>2</sup> averring Mr. Shewalter was not "a compliant model probationer." (10/13/2022 Tr. at 13.) The Prosecutor and Mr. Linn had the following conversation about Mr. Shewalter's performance during supervision:

Q. Okay. When was the first time that he caused a problem for you or needed to be sanctioned?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The first ROV indicated Mr. Shewalter returned to Montana on October 17, 2021, "from Washington State for Violating Interstate Compact Rules – Technical Violation[,]" and "started the probation portion of his sentence in Kalispell." (Doc. 49 at 1.)

A. To be sanctioned – the sanctions can be as little as a verbal warning. And I've given him many to try to work with him and get him to comply with little conditions that the court wants him to do.

Q. Okay. Has that noncompliance existed throughout the year that you've been supervising him, or was it something that just most recently happened in June, I guess, is what I'm getting at?

A. The serious violations were – began on June 3. But the ones that just required minor sanctions, like verbal warnings and redirect (sic), happened the whole year.

Q.  $\dots$  [W]hy did you see fit to filed a Report of Violation based on these new allegations?

. . .

A. I believe that it would – if I didn't intervene with a revocation, then this could result in a new crime.

(10/13/2022 Tr. at 14 (parenthetical original).) Linn admitted he had

not spoken with anyone in the Flathead County Attorney Office about

the allegations in his two ROVs.<sup>3</sup> The State rested after Stufflebeem and Linn testified. (10/13/2022 Tr. at 15.)

At that point, the judge stated to Defense Counsel, "I guess I'd let you make what argument you can[,]" but then proceeded to keep talking and revoke Mr. Shewalter's sentence before allowing the Defense to say anything. (10/13/2022 Tr. at 15.) The District Court ruled:

> THE COURT: ... And so on the Amended Petition to Revoke, then the Court does find that it would – it's appropriate for the Court to revoke the suspended sentence based on the fact that the Defendant does have competent counsel, who is here attempting to defend his actions; that the allegations against him are sufficient to create significant concern because many of them are not – a failure to comply with law enforcement and drug circumstances, one that sounds like maybe somebody could have died if law enforcement didn't show up and weren't providing other things.

There is, obviously, no argument with regard to – because we haven't discussed the Defendant – some of the other findings that the Court typically makes under these matters, and there aren't any admissions that have been made by the Defendant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> No publicly available records indicate Mr. Shewalter was charged in Flathead Country for any of the alleged offenses listed in either of the two ROVs in the instant case.

So based on the testimony of the witnesses provided by the State, then the Defendant's suspended sentence is revoked. Are the parties prepared to proceed to sentencing or does either party wish additional time?

[THE PROSECUTOR]: The State is prepared, Judge.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: (No response.) THE COURT: Okay.

(10/13/2022 Tr. at 15 - 16 (parenthetical in original).) The Prosecutor and Mr. Linn commenced discussing the State's recommended disposition, without Mr. Linn leaving the witness stand. (10/13/2022Tr. at 16 - 17.)

Mr. Linn reiterated the recommendation he made in the two ROVs, i.e., a five-year DOC commitment with no time suspended. Mr. Linn was not sure if he would recommend a 90-day Connections/Corrections treatment program or a nine-month stay at NEXUS for addiction treatment. (10/13/2022 Tr. at 17.) Regarding street time, Linn stated he would not recommend street time credit because Mr. Shewalter had been "very difficult to work with" on "minor things" and that he could not find "one instance per month" of compliance by Mr. Shewalter. (10/13/2022 Tr. at 18.)

In his allocution, Mr. Shewalter acknowledged, "I completely understand that I have been, for lack of – I have been a 'shit show' for the entire summer. I'm not going to lie. I'm not trying to lie." (10/13/2022 Tr. at 24.) Regarding the State's disposition recommendation, Mr. Shewalter explained, "I think that five years is too much of a time. I've already finished five years. I got ten years. I've already done a whole five years for this marijuana charge." (10/13/2022 Tr. at 24.) Defense Counsel noted Mr. Shewalter "has some mental health issues" and, even though he had "screwed up," argued he "has just been punished, and punished, and punished." (10/13/2022 Tr. at 18, 21 - 22.) Therefore, Counsel requested a five-year sentence with three years suspended. (10/13/2022 Tr. at 22.) Mr. Shewalter personally requested "a three-year suspended sentence with two years and Connections/Corrections[.]" (10/13/2022 Tr. at 27.)

The District Court imposed the Prosecutor's recommended disposition – a five-year DOC commitment with a recommendation for NEXUS, pre-release, and mental health treatment. (10/13/2022 Tr. at 28 – 29, attached hereto as App. C.) After the District Court's oral pronouncement, Mr. Shewalter – not his attorney – inquired:

THE DEFENDANT: I'm not a lawyer or anything, but I've been led to believe that I would get credit for street time up until my revocation was filed. So from October 17 until June of this year I should get credit for street time because that's when – that's just what I've been led to believe. I could be wrong. But I've been told the rules have changed and that I have – that I am entitled to credit for street time.

THE COURT: Mr. [Prosecutor], are you aware of anything with regard to this?

[THE PROSECUTOR]: Judge, as far as I can tell, the Court is required to address the issue of street time. And you should try and find, if you can, periods of time while he was succeeding on probation and give him credit for that period of time.

THE COURT: So I –

[THE PROSECUTOR]: I don't believe there is a hard and fast rule that he gets credit for all the time up until an ROV was filed. And based on the testimony of the witnesses we've had here today, he has been problematic the entire time he was on probation. And I believe the probation officer testified he couldn't find a solid month-long block during the year where he was not requiring counseling, redirection, or interventions. And so that's why we are specifically requesting in this instance that he not receive any credit for street time because he just wasn't ever good. THE COURT: Well, the officer did testify that he used lesser degrees of redirection and verbal warnings during the time and things just continued to get worse. So the Court has significant concern that we're going to get anywhere with some of the things that are happening.

But if in anybody's review of this there would be an appropriate amount of street time, then I'd be willing to consider it. But based on the testimony here today, and the information that's been provided, and the Defendant – the Defendant, obviously, has a significant issue with drugs and they're increasingly more dangerous to him. And that being the case, I want him to have as much time as he can to work in a safe environment to avoid that and to develop tools to deal with it.

And so we've been messing with this case since 2006. That's a long time to have that out there. And I have given credit for any time that has been served. And in this case I'm not going to grant any street time just because there's been a continued involvement of Probation and Parole for purposes of trying to keep everybody straight and appropriate.

(App. C at 30 - 32 (emphasis added).)

No credit for time served was granted in the oral disposition. At no point did Defense Counsel advocate to support her client's request for street-time credit. The written dispositional order, entitled Judgment on Second Revocation, is consistent with the oral pronouncement. (Doc. 69, attached hereto as App. D.) Specifically, it revokes Mr. Shewalter's five-year suspended sentence issued on December 6, 2018, and imposes a five-year DOC commitment with no time suspended. (App. D at 1.) The District Court granted no credit for time served or street time.

#### STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Calculating credit for time served is a question of law subject to de novo review. *State v. Parks*, 2019 MT 252, ¶ 7, 397 Mont. 408, 450 P.3d 889 (citations omitted).

"[R]evocation decisions involve both legal and factual findings, and we review a district court's legal findings de novo and its factual findings for clear error." *State v. Jardee*, 2020 MT 81, ¶ 5, 399 Mont. 459, 462, 461 P.3d 108 (citation, internal quotation marks omitted; formatting modified). A district court's factual findings are clearly erroneous if they are not supported by substantial credible evidence, if the court misapprehended the effect of the evidence, or if a review of the record leaves this Court with the definite firm conviction that a mistake has been made." Jardee, ¶ 5, 3 (citation, internal quotation marks omitted).

"Ineffective assistance of counsel claims are mixed questions of law and fact which we review de novo." *State v. Wright*, 2021 MT 239, ¶ 7, 405 Mont. 383, 495 P.3d 435 (citations omitted).

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Jason Shewalter is statutorily entitled to credit for time he served in this case during two separate jail sanctions before the State filed the instant petition to revoke, and during two separate periods after the State filed the petition to revoke. Failure to grant credit for time served renders his revocation sentence illegal. This Court should reverse the District Court's failure to grant any credit for time served and remand with instructions for the District Court to amend the judgment on second revocation by crediting Mr. Shewalter with 149 days of time served calculated as follows: April 17 through May 18, 2022; May 23 through May 26, 2022; June 16 through August 18, 2022, and from August 26 through October 13, 2022, all dates inclusive.

Additionally, Mr. Shewalter is entitled to credit for elapsed time against his revocation sentence for the time period during which he had

no documented violations of his probationary conditions. The District Court abused its discretion by denying such credit. Further, Mr. Shewalter received ineffective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to advocate for elapsed time credit on his behalf. This Court should reverse the District Court's failure to grant any credit for elapsed time served and remand with instructions for the District Cout to amend the judgment on second revocation by crediting Mr. Shewalter with elapsed time from October 17, 2021, through March 16, 2022, dates inclusive. Because Mr. Shewalter has no documented violations of his probationary conditions during this time period, he is statutorily entitled to receive street-time credit for these days.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

## I. Mr. Shewalter's sentence is illegal because it denies him credit for time he served during the instant revocation proceedings.

"Calculating credit for time served is not a discretionary act, but a legal mandate." *Parks*, ¶ 9 (citations omitted). "The *Lenihan* rule[<sup>4</sup>] provides a sentence not objected to in the district court that is 'illegal or exceeds statutory mandates,' *Lenihan*, 184 Mont. at 343, 602 P.2d at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> State v. Lenihan, 184 Mont. 338, 602 P.2d 997 (1979).

1000, and not merely an 'objectionable' statutory violation, *State v. Kotwicki*, 2007 MT 17, ¶ 13, 335 Mont. 344, 151 P.3d 892 (citations omitted), may be reviewed on appeal." *State v. Hansen*, 2017 MT 280, ¶ 12, 389 Mont. 299, 405 P.3d 625 (citations omitted), overruled in part on other grounds *Gardipee v. Salmonsen*, 2021 MT 115, 486 P.3d 689 (pro se petition for writ of habeas corpus). This Court may review Mr. Shewalter's credit-for-time-served claim under *Lenihan*, notwithstanding the lack of an objection below.

Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-203(7)(b) provides that if a suspended sentence is revoked, "Credit must be allowed for time served in a detention center or for home arrest time already served." This language is not discretionary when it comes to awarding of credit for time served on a revoked sentence. *State v. Crazymule*, 2024 MT 58, ¶ 9, 415 Mont. 537, 545 P.3d 66.

Similarly, Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-403(1) requires, "A person incarcerated on a bailable offense against whom a judgment of imprisonment is rendered must be allowed credit for each day of incarceration prior to or after conviction, except that the time allowed as a credit may not exceed the term of the prison sentence rendered."

"By its plain language, § 46-18-403(1), MCA, leaves no discretion to the sentencing court to determine whether a defendant incarcerated on a bailable offense receives credit for incarceration time prior to or after conviction." *Killam v. Salmonsen*, 2021 MT 196, ¶ 13, 405 Mont. 143, 492 P.3d 512 (*en banc*) (footnote omitted).

"A trial court maintains supervisory control over a defendant during a suspended sentence." *Crazymule*, ¶ 12 (citation omitted). After a warrant is issued pursuant to a revocation petition,

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