FILED

02/11/2025

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0398

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 23-0398

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

JASON DANIEL SHEWALTER,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Twentieth Judicial District Court, Lake County, The Honorable Deborah Christopher, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN Montana Attorney General BRAD FJELDHEIM Assistant Attorney General 215 North Sanders P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401 Phone: 406-444-2026 brad.fjeldheim@mt.gov

JAMES A. LAPOTKA Lake County Attorney 106 4th Avenue East Polson, MT 59860

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

On March 17, 2022, the DOC issued a pick up and hold order for Shewalter's failure to report to his probation officer. (Doc. 49 at 2.) On April 17, 2022, a Montana Highway Patrol trooper arrested Shewalter, and the DOC held him for an intervention hearing until he was released from jail on May 18, 2022. (*Id.*) The district court should have reduced Shewalter's revocation sentence by 32 days for the time he served in a detention center during this period. *See Crazymule*, ¶ 14; Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-203(7)(b). Shewalter provided the same calculation for these days in his credit request. (Br. at 20.)

On May 23, 2022, Officer Linn and another probation officer arrested Shewalter for illegal drug use. (Doc. 49 at 3.) Shewalter remained in jail until his

release on May 26, 2022. (*Id.*) The district court should have reduced Shewalter's sentence by four days for the time he served in a detention center during this period. *See Crazymule*, ¶ 14; Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-203(7)(b). Shewalter provided the same calculation for these days in his credit request. (Br. at 20.)

On June 16, 2022, the district court issued an arrest warrant for Shewalter's arrest pursuant to the revocation proceedings. (Doc. 51.) On June 23, 2022, Columbia Falls police officers arrested Shewalter for potential drug offenses and resisting arrest. (Doc. 52 at 1.) Shewalter remained incarcerated until he posted bond on August 18, 2022. (Doc. 61.) Pursuant to this Court's application of Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-203(7)(b) in *Crazymule*, ¶ 14, the district court should have reduced Shewalter's sentence by 57 days for time served in a detention center.

Shewalter claims his sentence should be reduced from the date the district court issued the arrest warrant on June 16, 2022. (Br. at 18-19.) However, Shewalter bases this argument on his incorrect assertion that he was incarcerated on June 16, 2022. (*Id.*) Shewalter accurately notes that he was incarcerated in the Flathead County Detention Center on June 8, 2022. (Doc. 49 at 1.) However, he has failed to acknowledge that he was released on his own recognizance on June 13, 2022. (Doc. 52 at 1.) Nothing in the record indicates Shewalter was in custody at any point from his release on June 13, 2022, to his arrest on June 23, 2022. The credit reduction for "time served in a detention center" in Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-203(7)(b) cannot

apply to time that Shewalter was not in a detention center, and this Court has never endorsed that result. The appropriate credit reduction is 57 days for the time period between Shewalter's arrest on June 23, 2022, and his release on August 18, 2022. *See Crazymule*, ¶ 14; Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-203(7)(b).

On August 26, 2022, the district court issued an arrest warrant for Shewalter after he failed to appear at his scheduled adjudication hearing. (Doc. 65.) The record shows that the State served this warrant on Shewalter on September 1, 2022, and Shewalter remained in jail until his adjudication and disposition hearing on October 13, 2022. (Doc. 66.) The district court should have reduced Shewalter's sentence by 43 days for the time he served in a detention center during this period. *See Crazymule*, ¶ 14; Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-203(7)(b).

Shewalter argues his sentence reduction should begin on August 25, 2022. (Br. at 6, 19.) Shewalter correctly asserts that he did not appear at the scheduled adjudication hearing that day. (*Id.*) But his assertion that his failure to appear was due to his incarceration is not supported by the record. (*Id.*) Officer Stufflebeem did not testify that he arrested Shewalter on August 25, 2022. (8/25/22 Tr. at 4-6.) Officer Stufflebeem testified that he found Shewalter hiding in the bathroom of a residence where Shewalter had been trespassing. (*Id.*) Shewalter told Officer Stufflebeem "that he was enrolling in a treatment plan and that he had court this morning." (*Id.* at 6.) Officer Stufflebeem testified: [State:] Okay. Was [Shewalter] violating the law by being in that apartment last night?

[Officer Stufflebeem:] He was.

[State:] Could you have written him a citation for trespassing?

[Officer Stufflebeem:] I could have.

[State:] Did you decline to do that because of circumstances?

[Officer Stufflebeem:] I did.

(Id.)

Officer Stufflebeem testified again during the October 13, 2022 adjudication and disposition hearing, and he never said that he arrested Shewalter on the morning of August 25, 2022. (10/13/22 Tr. at 5-12.) Again, Officer Stufflebeem's testimony undermines Shewalter's assertion that he missed the hearing because he had been arrested.

[State:] The day after this, after you were up all night doing your job and Narcanning [Shewalter's] girlfriend, you were here in court, weren't you?

[Officer Stufflebeem:] That's correct.

[State:] Okay. And was he here?

[Officer Stufflebeem:] No.

(*Id.* at 10.)

The only conclusion supported by the record is that Shewalter was not in custody on August 25, 2022. During the August 25, 2022 hearing, the State indicated that it did not know why Shewalter did not show up. (8/25/22 Tr. at 2-8.) Shewalter's counsel said that Shewalter had previously told her that he had enrolled in treatment, but she had no other information of his whereabouts. (*Id.*) The district court issued another arrest warrant and noted that the bondsman would also be "very interested in where [Shewalter] is and why he didn't show up." (*Id.* at 7.) The only other evidence in the record regarding Shewalter's custodial status during that time period is the arrest warrant documents that indicate the State served and arrested Shewalter on September 1, 2022. (Doc. 66.)

Without any fact in the record to show that Shewalter was in custody prior to September 1, 2022, he cannot be entitled to "credit for time served in a detention center," pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-203(7)(b). The appropriate credit reduction is 43 days for the time period between Shewalter's arrest on September 1, 2022, and his adjudication and disposition hearing on October 13, 2022. *See Crazymule*, ¶ 14; Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-203(7)(b).

The State concedes that the district court erred by not reducing Shewalter's revocation sentence by 136 days of "credit for time served in a detention center," pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-203(7)(b), and this Court should remand this case and instruct the district court to revise Shewalter's sentence accordingly.

IV. The district court correctly denied elapsed time credit because the probation officer's records and recollections show Shewalter had continually violated his conditions during his entire suspended sentence.

The statute requires a district court to "allow all of the elapsed time served *without any record or recollection of violations* as a credit against the sentence." Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-203(7)(b) (emphasis added). Shewalter requests elapsed time credit from the beginning of his suspended sentence on October 17, 2021, to March 16, 2022.⁷ (Br. at 26.) But the district court correctly denied that elapsed time credit because Officer Linn's testimony and two reports of violation show there was not any period of elapsed time during Shewalter's suspended sentence without any record or recollection of violations. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-203(7)(b).

Officer Linn testified, based on his recollection, that Shewalter had failed to comply with his sentence conditions throughout the entire duration of his suspended sentence, and he gave Shewalter multiple sanctions to get him to comply with the conditions of his sentence prior to filing his initial report of violation. (10/13/22 Tr. at 13-14.) He specifically responded to the district court's question regarding elapsed time, and said:

I put—I put none. And that is I reviewed his case a couple of times and I tried to look and give him the benefit of a doubt, even one instance per month, and I couldn't find any. Very difficult to work

⁷ Shewalter acknowledges that he is not entitled to a sentence reduction for elapsed time credit for time after Officer Linn issued the pick up and hold warrant for his noncompliance on March 17, 2022. (Br. at 26.)

with. If he would have shown some compliance with me to want to work with the minor things I wanted him to do, I would—I'd be giving him—requesting that he get street time. But none is welcomed in this case.

(*Id.* at 18.) These recollections of Shewalter's probation officer support the district court's denial of elapsed time credit because they show that there was no "elapsed time served without any record or recollection of violations." *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-203(7)(b). In addition to his recollections, Officer Linn's records further support the district court's denial of elapsed time credit. *Id*.

In the first report of violation, Officer Linn summarized: Shewalter "has failed in several key areas of community supervision. Reporting in as directed, employment, residence, on-going illegal substance use and failing to attend outpatient chem[ic]al dependency treatment to name a few. [Shewalter] is not suitable for community supervision at this time." (Doc. 49 at 3.) Officer Linn specifically reported:

- Shewalter began his suspended sentence by returning from Washington State for violating interstate compact rules;
- Shewalter did not have a permanent residence;
- Shewalter was difficult to contact;
- Shewalter failed to obtain or maintain employment;
- Shewalter had difficulty keeping up with probation officer appointments due to transportation issues;

- He issued a pick up and hold warrant for Shewalter on March 17, 2022 for his failure to report;
- At that same time, Shewalter had a failure to appear warrant with a \$650 bond;
- Shewalter evolved from consistently stating he only used marijuana to asking for help for his addiction to harsher drugs including methamphetamine, heroin, and possibly fentanyl; and
- He had issued multiple verbal reprimands to Shewalter.

(Doc. 49 at 1-3.) In the addendum to the report of violation, Officer Linn reported that Shewalter's "current illegal substance use seems to be steady, constant use," and that Shewalter's brother was concerned that without intervention Shewalter would "continue to couch surf and stay with people whom are engaged in using illegal substances." (Doc. 52 at 2.)

In *Jardee*, ¶ 11, this Court explained that the denial of elapsed time credit must be based on "actual" violations. The conditions of Shewalter's suspended sentence required him to not change his place of residence without first obtaining permission from his probation officer, maintain employment or approved programming, personally report as directed, abstain from intoxicants, obey all laws, participate in counseling as recommended, and not knowingly associate with persons who use drugs, abuse alcohol, or otherwise violate the law. (Doc. 29 at 2-6.) Officer Linn's records and recollections support numerous, constant, and actual violations of these conditions throughout the entire duration of Shewalter's

suspended sentence. Shewalter minimizes these violations, but Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-203(7)(b) does not require a district court to ignore violations because they did not result in an immediate report of violation. Officer Linn recommended that the district court not reduce Shewalter's sentence for elapsed time because of Shewalter's actual violations throughout his entire suspended sentence. Both the records and recollections of Officer Linn support that recommendation and the district court's ruling. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-203(7)(b).

The district court acknowledged Officer Linn's records and recollections in its denial of elapsed time credit. It said, "the officer did testify that he used lesser degrees of redirection and verbal warnings during the time and things just continued to get worse." (10/13/22 Tr. at 32.) It summarized, "I'm not going to grant any street time just because there's just been a continued involvement of Probation and Parole for purposes of trying to keep everybody straight and appropriate." (Id.) This Court in Jardee, ¶¶ 12-13, held that a district court's reference to a violation during the relevant period was sufficient to satisfy its obligations under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-203(7)(b). Here, the district court referenced Shewalter's constant violations throughout the entire duration of his suspended sentence. Those persistent violations were supported by Officer Linn's records and recollections and supported the district court's denial of elapsed time credit. See id.

Shewalter does not address most of these violations. (Br. at 20-26.) Rather, he argues that his minor violations prior to March 17, 2022, do not support the denial of elapsed time credit based on this Court's explanation of the statutory requirements in *Jardee*, ¶¶ 10-11. (Br. at 24.) But the district court did not deny elapsed time credit solely based on a "pattern" of criminal behavior or expand specific violations to unrelated periods of elapsed time because they "permeated" the entire sentence duration. *See Jardee*, ¶¶ 10-11. The district court based its denial on actual violations during the relevant time period, as this Court required in *Jardee*, ¶¶ 10-12.

In *Jardee*, ¶¶ 9-10, this Court explained that the prior version of Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-203(7)(b) granted a district court discretion to allow or reject all or part of the elapsed time credit once a suspended sentence had been revoked. The 2017 amendments removed that discretion and required credit be allowed "if there have been no violations." *Id.* ¶ 10. This Court rejected a district court's ability to deny elapsed time based "merely upon the State's argument that Jardee's many probation violations 'permeated' the entirety of his time on supervision." *Id.* It continued, "it is now insufficient for a district court to base a denial of street time credit solely on a 'pattern' of criminal behavior." *Id.* ¶ 11. Similarly, this Court rejected the State's argument that "Jardee's history with his girlfriend

'demonstrat[ed] a pattern of manipulation [and] abuse . . . consistent with non-compliance while under supervision[.]'" *Id*. (alterations in original).

However, this Court affirmed the denial of elapsed time credit because the record and recollection of the probation officer showed that Jardee had incorrectly reported his address throughout the period in question, which was a violation of his probation conditions. *Id.* ¶ 12. Here, Officer Linn testified to Shewalter's numerous violations of his probation conditions between the beginning of his supervision and the pick up and hold warrant issued on March 17, 2022. Included in those violations were Shewalter's failure to obtain or report changes to his permanent residence and failure to gain or maintain employment or approved programming. Shewalter does not dispute these facts, which were constant violations of his supervision this court relied on to affirm the denial of elapsed time credit in *Jardee*, ¶ 12.

This Court should affirm the district court's denial of elapsed time credit because Officer Linn's records and recollections show Shewalter had actual violations of his probation conditions throughout the entire duration of his suspended sentence. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-203(7)(b).

V. Shewalter's ineffective assistance of counsel argument is unnecessary and without merit.

Shewalter argues his counsel was ineffective for not addressing elapsed time credit. (Br. at 27-29.) This Court does not need to address this issue. Shewalter's argument is unnecessary to preserve his challenge to the district court's denial of elapsed time credit because Shewalter did not waive it. He personally raised the elapsed time issue with the district court, which preserved it for appeal. Even if he had not, the denial of elapsed time credit would have been reviewable by this Court because an alleged error based on the calculation of credit for time served is sufficient to support review under *State v. Lenihan*, 184 Mont. 338, 341-45, 602 P.2d 997, 1000-01 (1979). *See Souther*, ¶ 12 (this Court will review a court's calculation of credit even if it is not preserved because it affects the legality of a sentence).

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